UNEDITED

The preliminary version of this Legislative Summary is made available to parliamentarians, parliamentary staff and the public to ensure timely access to the information, research and analysis needed to study the bill in question. The official version of the Legislative Summary, which may differ from this unedited version, will replace this document on the Parliament of Canada website.



Legislative Summary

BILL S-5:

AN ACT TO AMEND THE CANADIAN ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT, 1999, TO MAKE RELATED AMENDMENTS TO THE FOOD AND DRUGS ACT AND TO REPEAL THE PERFLUOROOCTANE SULFONATE VIRTUAL ELIMINATION ACT

44-1-S5-E

3 November 2022

Revised by Sarah Yakobowski

Parliamentary Information, Education and Research Services

AUTHORSHIP

3 November 2022 Sarah Yakobowski Economics, Resources

and International Affairs Division

2 March 2022 Sam Banks Economics, Resources

and International Affairs Division

Natacha Kramski Economics, Resources

and International Affairs Division

Sarah Yakobowski Economics, Resources

and International Affairs Division

ABOUT THIS PUBLICATION

Library of Parliament Legislative Summaries summarize bills currently before Parliament and provide background about them in an objective and impartial manner. They are prepared by Parliamentary Information, Education and Research Services, which carries out research for and provides information and analysis to parliamentarians and Senate and House of Commons committees and parliamentary associations. Legislative Summaries are revised as needed to reflect amendments made to bills as they move through the legislative process.

For clarity of exposition, the legislative proposals set out in the bill described in this Legislative Summary are stated as if they had already been adopted or were in force. It is important to note, however, that bills may be amended during their consideration by the House of Commons and Senate, and have no force or effect unless and until they are passed by both houses of Parliament, receive Royal Assent, and come into force.

Any substantive changes in this Library of Parliament Legislative Summary that have been made since the preceding issue are indicated in **bold print**.

© Library of Parliament, Ottawa, Canada, 2022

Legislative Summary of Bill S-5 (Preliminary version)

44-1-S5-E

Ce document est également publié en français.

CONTENTS

2.4.1	Report To Parliament – Impact on Aboriginal Peoples (Clause 57)	16
2.4	New Reporting Requirements	16
2.3	Disclosure and Confidentiality (Clauses 50 to 53)	15
2.2.8	Other Acts of Parliament (Clauses 21, 40, 55 and 56)	15
2.2.7	Animate Products of Biotechnology (Clauses 39.1 and 44.1)	14
2.2.6	Priority Substances List (Clauses 19 and 20)	13
2.2.5	Domestic Substances List (Clauses 13, 14, 24, 39, 41, 43 and 49)	13
2.2.4	Virtual Elimination List (Clauses 2, 12, 32 and 63)	
2.2.3	Products Containing a Toxic Substance or That May Release the Substance into the Environment (Clauses 9 to 11, 16, 18, 33, 37 and 46 to 48)	10
2.2.2	Schedule 1 (Clauses 21(1), 29, 58 and 62)	9
2.2.1	Identifying and Regulating Toxic Substances (Clauses 15 to 17, 19, 22, 49 and 54)	7
2.2	Controlling Toxic Substances	7
2.1	Preamble, Administrative Duties and Definitions (Clauses 2 to 5, 7 and 8)	5
2	DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS	5
1.3.4.1	Virtual Elimination	
1.3.4	Managing Risks of Substances	
1.3.3	Adding a Substance to Schedule 1, the List of Toxic Substances	
1.3.2.1	Other Mechanisms to Initiate Risk Assessments	
1.3.2 1.3.2.1	Substances and Activities New to Canada Domestic Substances List	
1.3.1	Identifying a Substance as "CEPA Toxic"	
1.3	Part 5 – Controlling Toxic Substances	
1.2	History of the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999	2
1.1	Purpose of Bill	1
1	BACKGROUND	1

i

UNEDITED

2.4.2	Report of the Minister of Industry on Compliance of Imported Goods (Clause 67.1)	17
2.4.3	Amendments to the <i>Food and Drugs Act</i> (Clauses 64 to 69)	17
2.4.4	Regulation-Making Authority Under the Food and Drugs Act	18
2.5	Repeal of the Regulations Adding Perfluorooctane Sulfonate and Its Salts to the Virtual Elimination List and the Perfluorooctane Sulfonate Virtual Elimination Act (Clauses 63 and 68)	19
3	OBSERVATIONS OF THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON ENERGY, THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES	19

LEGISLATIVE SUMMARY OF BILL S-5:
AN ACT TO AMEND THE CANADIAN ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT, 1999, TO MAKE RELATED AMENDMENTS TO THE FOOD AND DRUGS ACT AND TO REPEAL THE PERFLUOROOCTANE SULFONATE VIRTUAL ELIMINATION ACT

1 BACKGROUND

Bill S-5, An Act to amend the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, to make related amendments to the Food and Drugs Act and to repeal the Perfluorooctane Sulfonate Virtual Elimination Act (short title: Strengthening Environmental Protection for a Healthier Canada Act)¹ was introduced in the Senate of Canada by Senator Marc Gold and read for the first time on 9 February 2022. The bill was referred to the Standing Senate Committee on Energy, the Environment and Natural Resources (ENEV) for its consideration. The committee proposed 32 amendments and offered five observations.² The Senate passed the bill as amended by ENEV on 22 June 2022.

The bill was read a first time in the House of Commons on 28 September 2022 and referred to the House of Commons Standing Committee on Environment and Sustainable Development for consideration on 3 November 2022.

This bill is almost identical to Bill C-28, An Act to amend the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, to make related amendments to the Food and Drugs Act and to repeal the Perfluorooctane Sulfonate Virtual Elimination Act (short title: Strengthening Environmental Protection for a Healthier Canada Act)³ which was introduced in the House of Commons by the Minister of Environment and Climate Change and read for the first time on 13 April 2021. It died on the *Order Paper* upon dissolution of the 43rd Parliament, 2nd Session, on 15 August 2021.

1.1 PURPOSE OF BILL

Bill S-5 amends the *Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999* ⁴ (CEPA). It recognizes Canadians' right to a healthy environment and enshrines the Government of Canada's duty to protect this right. The bill requires the ministers of the Environment and Health (the ministers) to consider vulnerable populations and cumulative effects when assessing a substance's potential to be toxic or to become toxic. The bill creates a two-track prioritization regime for the regulation of toxic substances under CEPA. Toxic substances continue to be listed in Schedule 1, but the single list is divided into Part 1 for substances that pose the highest risk and Part 2 for

all others. For toxic substances listed in Part 1 of Schedule 1, the ministers prioritize regulation through total, partial or conditional prohibition of releases of those substances. For toxic substances listed in Part 2 of Schedule 1, the ministers prioritize regulation through pollution prevention actions. The bill amends the *Food and Drugs Act* ⁵ (FDA) to create an environmental risk assessment and management regime for drugs. The FDA already sets out a framework for assessing and managing health risks to ensure the safety, efficacy and quality of drugs; however, the environmental risks of drug ingredients are currently assessed under CEPA. The amendments establish a single assessment regime under the FDA to assess both the environmental risks and health risks of drugs.

1.2 HISTORY OF THE CANADIAN ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT, 1999

CEPA is one of the principal federal laws aimed at environmental protection in Canada. Enacted in 1988, the original CEPA consolidated several statutes and parts of statutes related to the environment. This CEPA laid out a framework for managing toxic substances and gave the ministers authority to regulate sources of pollution. Following a review in 1995, the current version of CEPA came into force in 1999. Since then, CEPA has undergone relatively few and minor amendments.

CEPA has been subject to several parliamentary committee reviews. The most recent review, by the House of Commons Standing Committee on the Environment and Sustainable Development (ENVI), resulted in a June 2017 report containing 87 recommendations that address themes including the following:

- recognizing and implementing a right to a healthy environment;
- recognizing the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples;
- consideration of exposures to toxic substances of vulnerable populations;
- consideration of cumulative effects of toxic substances:
- hazard labelling on products containing toxic substances;
- revisiting the virtual elimination regime and implementing a more effective regime;
- prohibiting the highest-risk toxic substances;
- regulating the design and functioning of products that may not contain toxic substances but might release them during their use;
- authority to delete a substance no longer in commerce from the Domestic Substances List;

- authority for the Minister of Health to lead in implementing CEPA for toxic substances where the risks are health-related; and
- increasing transparency and opportunities for public participation.

The response of the Government of Canada to this report was tabled in the House of Commons in June 2018. The Minister of Environment and Climate Change has indicated that some 35 recommendations from the report have been incorporated into Bill S-5. 11

1.3 PART 5 - CONTROLLING TOXIC SUBSTANCES

CEPA is divided into 12 parts. Parts 1 and 7 of CEPA are not amended by Bill S-5. Many of the provisions in the bill affect Part 5, which regulates the identification and management of toxic substances. The current process under CEPA is described below.

1.3.1 Identifying a Substance as "CEPA Toxic"

Under CEPA, the process for identifying a toxic substance depends on whether the substance existed in Canada when CEPA was first enacted or is either new or subject to a new use. Both existing and new substances must be assessed to determine whether they need to be managed. The test for this, known as the "CEPA toxic" test, is set out in section 64 of CEPA:

64 For the purposes of this Part and Part 6, except where the expression "inherently toxic" appears, a substance is toxic if it is entering or may enter the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that

- (a) have or may have an immediate or long-term harmful effect on the environment or its biological diversity;
- (b) constitute or may constitute a danger to the environment on which life depends; or
- (c) constitute or may constitute a danger in Canada to human life or health.

1.3.2 Substances and Activities New to Canada

New substances and significant new activities are typically prohibited until the ministers have assessed whether the substance is toxic or capable of becoming toxic. If the ministers suspect that the substance is toxic or capable of becoming toxic, they may permit use of the substance, subject to any conditions; prohibit the substance; or request more information (section 84(1)). Approximately 400 to 500 new substance notifications are received annually for review.¹²

1321 Domestic Substances List

Chemical substances already in commercial use in Canada before 1987 were placed on a list known as the Domestic Substances List. ¹³ CEPA required that the approximately 23,000 substances on the Domestic Substances List be categorized to determine which ones required further assessment. ¹⁴ The Government of Canada completed this "initial priority setting" ¹⁵ by the deadline of 2006 as specified in CEPA, seven years after CEPA came into force. Approximately 4,300 substances ¹⁶ met the specified criteria to undergo a screening level risk assessment to determine if they were CEPA toxic.

1.3.2.2 Other Mechanisms to Initiate Risk Assessments

In addition to new substance notifications and the results of categorization of the Domestic Substances List, the Government of Canada describes five other mechanisms for identifying candidate substances for risk assessments:

- industry information;
- information exchange and review of decisions of other jurisdictions;
- inclusion on another list referred to as the Priority Substances List;
- emerging science and monitoring; and
- international assessment or data collection. 17

1.3.3 Adding a Substance to Schedule 1, the List of Toxic Substances

Following a screening assessment of a substance, the ministers propose whether to add the substance to the list of toxic substances in Schedule 1 of CEPA (section 77(2)). Under section 77(3), the ministers are required to recommend that a substance be added to the list of toxic substances if they are satisfied that:

- (a) the substance may have a long-term harmful effect on the environment and is
 - (i) persistent and bioaccumulative in accordance with the regulations, and
 - (ii) inherently toxic to human beings or non-human organisms, as determined by laboratory or other studies, and
- (b) the presence of the substance in the environment results primarily from human activity[.]

4

Based on the ministers' recommendation, the Governor in Council issues the order to add the substance to the list of toxic substances (section 90(1)).

1.3.4 Managing Risks of Substances

To manage the risks associated with a new substance or activity, conditions may be placed on the manufacture or import of a substance. Once a substance is added to the list of toxic substances, regulations or instruments may be used to impose such conditions. A pollution prevention plan (Part 4 of CEPA) or objectives, guidelines or codes of practice (Part 3) may also be used to control toxic substances.

1.3.4.1 Virtual Elimination

When the ministers propose to add to the list of toxic substances a substance that is persistent and bioaccumulative, present in the environment primarily due to human activity and not a naturally occurring radionuclide or inorganic substance, they must propose to use the virtual elimination provisions of CEPA (section 77(4)). To initiate virtual elimination, a substance must be added to the Virtual Elimination List. ¹⁸ The level of quantification, defined as "the lowest concentration that can be accurately measured using sensitive but routine sampling and analytical methods" (section 65.1), must be specified for the substance. The release limit of the substance is then set out in regulations and may be reduced over time until the quantity of the substance released into the environment falls below the level specified for that substance. Although the virtual elimination scheme accounts for point sources of toxic substances released into the environment (e.g., wastewater outflow pipes), it does not account for diffuse sources. ¹⁹

2 DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Bill S-5 contains 69 clauses. Key clauses are discussed in the sections below.

2.1 PREAMBLE, ADMINISTRATIVE DUTIES AND DEFINITIONS (CLAUSES 2 TO 5, 7 AND 8)

Clause 2 amends CEPA's preamble to highlight the government's commitment to implementing the United Nations *Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples*, **including free, prior and informed consent**, and to recognize:

- the right of every individual in Canada to a healthy environment;
- the importance of considering vulnerable populations when assessing the toxicity of substances;

- the importance of minimizing the risks posed by exposure to toxic substances, including cumulative effects;
- the role of science **and Indigenous knowledge** in making decisions related to the protection of the environment and human health;
- the importance of developing and incorporating scientifically justified
 alternative methods to replace, reduce or refine the use of vertebrate animals
 for testing and assessing substances;
- the importance of encouraging substitution of substances, processes and technologies with alternatives safer for the environment or human health, where economically and technically viable; and
- the importance of Canadians having information on the risks posed by toxic substances to the environment or human health, including through product labelling.

Clause 3 adds **new duties for** the Government of Canada in the administration of CEPA (amended section 2(1)), namely:

- protecting the health of vulnerable populations;
- protecting the right of every individual in Canada to a healthy environment, subject to any reasonable limits; and
- encouraging the development and timely incorporation of scientifically
 justified alternatives to replace, reduce or refine the use of vertebrate
 animals in the testing and assessment of substances.

Clause 4(2) adds a new definition to section 3(1) to state that a vulnerable population is "a group of individuals within the Canadian population who, due to greater susceptibility or greater exposure, may be at an increased risk of experiencing adverse health effects from exposure to substances."

Clause 5 adds new section 5.1, requiring the ministers to develop, within two years after the day of coming into force of this section, an implementation framework on how the right to a healthy environment will be considered in the administration of CEPA. Content requirements of the framework are outlined and include, elaborating on the principles of environmental justice, non-regression, intergenerational equity, and avoiding disproportionate adverse effects on vulnerable populations. The framework shall address the reasonable limits to which the right to a healthy environment will be subject, as well as mechanisms to support the protection of that right. The ministers are required to consult interested persons during the development of the framework, publish it and report annually on its implementation.

Clause 5.1(1) expands the content that must be on the Environmental Registry to include, for each substance on the Domestic Substances List, actions proposed or taken under CEPA in relation to that substance, and "every international instrument to which Canada is a signatory that applies in respect of that substance." Clause 5.1(2) clarifies that the Minister may determine the form of the Environmental Registry so long as it is "a publicly accessible and searchable electronic database."

Clause 7 adds protection of the right to a healthy environment to the list of areas in which the ministers shall conduct research, studies or monitoring activities to support the Government of Canada (new section 44(3.1)).

Clause 8 clarifies that the research and studies conducted by the Minister of Health on the role of substances in health problems may include biomonitoring surveys and may relate to vulnerable populations (amended section 45).

2.2 CONTROLLING TOXIC SUBSTANCES

2.2.1 Identifying and Regulating Toxic Substances (Clauses 15 to 17, 19, 22, 49 **and 54**)

Clause 15 allows the Governor in Council to make regulations respecting the carcinogenicity, mutagenicity and reproductive toxicity of substances as well as the classification of substances as carcinogenic, mutagenic, toxic to reproduction or as posing "other risks of highest concern." This is in addition to the existing power to make regulations respecting, among other things, the persistence and bioaccumulation of substances. The power to make regulations respecting the conditions, test procedures and laboratory practices to be followed when analyzing properties of substances is expanded to include "procedures and practices for replacing, reducing or refining the use of vertebrate animals" (amended section 67).

Clauses 16(2) to 16(5) amend the list of factors in section 68(a) in relation to which the ministers may collect or generate data and conduct investigations when determining whether a substance is toxic and whether and how to control the substance. The following are new factors to consider:

- the potential for cumulative effects when in combination with exposure to other substances;
- whether there is a vulnerable population **or environment** in relation to the substance;
- delayed or latent carcinogenic, mutagenic or neurotoxic effects over an organism's lifetime;

- the potential to disrupt the endocrine system;
- the existence, development and use of safer or more sustainable alternatives; and
- how the public may be provided with information.

Information continues to be collected or generated to determine if a substance is toxic based on factors including the following:

- whether short-term exposure causes significant effects;
- the potential of organisms in the environment to be widely exposed;
- whether there are multiple ways an organism can be exposed;
- whether the substance can affect an organism's reproduction or survival;
- transgenerational effects or contribution to the population failure of a species;
- quantities, uses and disposal of a substance;
- how the substance is released into the environment;
- the development and use of alternatives to the substance; and
- how to control the presence of the substance in the environment.

Under section 69 of CEPA, either minister or both ministers may issue guidelines on controlling toxic substances after offering to consult provincial governments, representatives of Indigenous governments on the National Advisory Committee (an advisory body that provides guidance to the ministers on environmental matters) and other interested persons. Clause 17 amends section 69 to allow the Minister of Health to issue guidelines on controlling a toxic substance 60 days after offering a consultation; currently, only the Minister of the Environment may issue guidelines independently.

Clause 22 removes the possibility of filing a notice of objection if no regulations have been developed five years after a substance has been listed in Schedule 1. Instead, if the ministers decide to list a substance in Schedule 1 and indicate that regulations or instruments for preventive or control actions regarding the substance will be developed, the Minister of the Environment must publish a statement indicating an estimated time frame for the development of those regulations or instruments. If the ministers change their plan to develop the proposed regulations or instruments, they must publish a statement notifying the public (amended sections 78 and 79).

Clause 49(2) makes it an offence under CEPA to contravene conditions of a permission granted under a regulation with respect to a substance in Schedule 1 or regulations made for the protection of the environment (amended section 272(1)(d)).

Clause 54 repeals sections 330(3) and 330(3.1), which specified that regulations applied throughout Canada except where, to protect the environment or human health, they applied to a part or parts of the country in relation to a toxic substance listed in Schedule 1, fuel standards or releases of substances into air and water. Geographic locations may now be specified in any regulations prescribing "the minimum, average or maximum quantity or concentration of [a] substance" and "the method of determining such a quantity or concentration" (section 330(1)).

2.2.2 Schedule 1 (Clauses 21(1), 29, 58 and 62)

Schedule 1 is reordered into two parts to implement a two-track approach to managing toxic substances. Part 1 lists higher-risk toxic substances and Part 2 lists all other toxic substances, as set out in clauses 21(1) and 29 of the bill.

Part 1 of Schedule 1 lists toxic substances that pose the highest risk: those that are either persistent and bioaccumulative, or inherently toxic **to human beings or non-human organisms**. These substances are subject to a more stringent risk management objective in that priority is given to their total, partial or conditional prohibition.

Part 2 of Schedule 1 lists other toxic substances for which priority in risk management measures is given to pollution prevention actions, as is the case for toxic substances listed in Schedule 1 under the current CEPA.

Clause 58 renames Schedule 1 to remove "List of Toxic Substances" from its title. This title change is reflected throughout the amended text. It also categorizes 19 currently listed substances or groups of substances under Part 1 of Schedule 1 and 130 currently listed substances or groups of substances under Part 2 of Schedule 1.

The transitional provisions of the bill allow that substances recommended for addition to Schedule 1 of the current CEPA are deemed recommended for addition to Part 1 if the virtual elimination process is recommended, while substances recommended for addition to Schedule 1 of the current CEPA with no virtual elimination are deemed recommended for addition to Part 2 (clauses 60 and 61). If a substance is added to Schedule 1 before Bill S-5 receives Royal Assent, it will be listed in Part 1 if virtual elimination is recommended and in Part 2 if virtual elimination is not recommended (clause 62(1)).

2.2.3 Products Containing a Toxic Substance or That May Release the Substance into the Environment (Clauses 9 to 11, 16, 18, 33, 37 and 46 to 48)

Bill S-5 proposes amendments to allow for further regulation of products that contain a toxic substance listed in Schedule 1 or that may release the toxic substance into the environment. For example, the design of products such as portable fuel containers could be targeted since they can release volatile organic compounds listed in Schedule 1.²⁰

Clause 9 expands the Minister of the Environment's information-gathering power set out in section 46(1) to include products that contain or may release into the environment a substance that is toxic or capable of becoming toxic, activities that may contribute to pollution, **hydraulic fracturing**, and tailings ponds. The minister may currently gather information including information on substances that are found in low concentrations in the environment but must be monitored; substances released or disposed of at or into the sea; toxic substances; substances that may contribute to polluting fresh water, salt water, or the air; and pollution prevention.

Clauses 10 and 11 amend sections 56, **58(1)** and 60(1) to extend the Minister of the Environment's authority to require pollution prevention plans for products that contain or may release into the environment a substance listed in Schedule 1. Currently, pollution prevention plans may be required for substances listed in Schedule 1 and substances causing international air or water pollution. **The Minister of the Environment is given the authority to identify persons or groups of persons that manufacture, import, process or release, or that use in commercial manufacturing or processing, the substances for which pollution prevention plans may be required. For the purposes of this identification, the Minister may publish a notice requiring these persons or groups of persons to provide information to the Minister "to which they may reasonably be expected to have access."**

Clause 16(1) amends section 68 to allow either minister to collect or generate data and conduct investigations to determine whether and how to control a product that contains or may release a substance into the environment. Section 68 currently allows only for the collection and generation of data and the conduct of an investigation to determine whether a substance is toxic or capable of becoming toxic and whether and how to control the substance.

Clause 16.1 adds section 68.1, which prohibits the ministers from generating data or conducting investigations using vertebrate animals for the purposes of assessing the toxicity of a substance, or the need or manner to control a toxic substance or a product which contains or may release it. However, the ministers may generate data or conduct investigations using vertebrate animals if it is not reasonably possible to use other methods and "the data or investigation is necessary to achieve objectives related to protecting the environment or human health."

Clause 18 amends section 71 to allow the Minister of the Environment to publish notices in the *Canada Gazette* to require information or samples concerning products that may release a substance into the environment for the purpose of assessing whether a substance is toxic or capable of becoming toxic and whether or how to control the substance. This includes requiring toxicological or other tests. Section 71 currently allows only for the collection of information about activities involving a substance or products containing the substance. Clause 18 also adds the option to require information on the method used to generate data, the option to specify the method that must be used, and the option to specify that a method "be followed to replace, reduce or refine the use of vertebrate animals."

Clauses 33(1) to 33(6) amend section 93(1) to add to the powers to develop regulations respecting a toxic substance listed in Schedule 1. Expanded or new circumstances for which regulations may be developed include:

- the purpose for which a product that may release a substance into the environment may be imported, manufactured, processed or used, offered for sale or sold;
- the manner in and conditions under which a product that may release a substance into the environment may be imported, manufactured, processed or used;
- the purpose for, manner in and conditions under which a substance or a product that contains or may release a substance into the environment may be exported;
- the quantities or concentrations of a substance that may be exported;
- total, partial or conditional prohibition of the manufacture, use, processing, sale, offering for sale, import or export of a product that may release a substance into the environment;
- total, partial or conditional prohibition of the manufacture of a product intended to contain a substance;
- the quantity or concentration that may be released into the environment by a product;

- advertising, packaging and labelling of products that may release a substance into the environment;
- disposal of a product that may release a substance into the environment; and
- the requirement that information, samples, analyses and other elements be submitted to the Minister of the Environment for products containing a substance or that may release a substance into the environment.

Clauses 46(1) to 46(5) amend section 209(2) in the same regard but for federal and Aboriginal land.

Section 99 currently allows the Minister of the Environment to require manufacturers, processors, importers, retailers or distributors of a substance or product containing the substance to inform customers of any danger to the environment or human health or life posed by the product and to replace the substance or product or accept returns. Clause 37 expands these provisions to apply also to products that may release a substance into the environment.

Clause 47 amends section 218 to enable enforcement officers to enter and inspect a location if they suspect it may contain products that may release a substance into the environment. Enforcement officers may currently enter a location if they suspect it contains products containing a substance. Clause 48 amends section 235 to allow enforcement officers to issue environmental protection compliance orders (EPCOs) to persons suspected of committing an offence involving products that may release a substance into the environment. EPCOs may currently be issued to persons suspected of committing an offence involving products containing a substance.

2.2.4 Virtual Elimination List (Clauses 2, 12, 32 and 63)

Clause 12 repeals sections 65 and 65.1 of CEPA, which set out the Virtual Elimination List and associated definitions. Clause 32 repeals a regulation-making power related to virtual elimination (current section 92.1), while clause 2 removes the reference to virtual elimination from the preamble to CEPA. Under clause 63(a), the ministers may repeal the Virtual Elimination List by regulation.

Only two substances have been placed on the Virtual Elimination List to date under CEPA. Environment and Climate Change Canada has characterized the current provisions for virtual elimination as "unworkable," and ENVI has described them as "non-functional." Instead of virtual elimination, the highest-risk toxic substances will be listed in Part 1 of Schedule 1, and the ministers shall prioritize total, partial or conditional prohibition of these substances (as set out in clauses 21(1) and 29, discussed above).

12

Bill S-5

2.2.5 Domestic Substances List (Clauses 13, 14, 24, 39, 41, 43 and 49)

Clauses 13 and 14 deal with the Domestic Substances List and the Minister of the Environment's authority to add and delete substances from it. Clause 14 gives the minister authority to delete a substance from the Domestic Substances List if it is not being manufactured in or imported into Canada, in Canadian commerce or being used for commercial manufacturing purposes in Canada and to place it on the Non-domestic Substances List. To do so, the minister must publish a notice in the *Canada Gazette* and invite public comments on the intention to delete the substance from the Domestic Substances List (amended section 66 and new section 66.2). Under the current CEPA, the minister may delete a substance from the Domestic Substances List only if they learn that the substance was not manufactured in or imported into Canada in a quantity of at least 100 kg per year or not used in commerce or for manufacturing purposes in Canada between 1 January 1984 and 31 December 1986.

The Minister of the Environment also gains the authority to add to (and, where appropriate, subsequently delete from) the Domestic Substances List substances to which the *Food and Drugs Act* applied between 1 January 1987 and 13 September 2001. The minister is provided with the authority to designate any person or class of persons to exercise these powers and perform these duties and functions (new section 66.2). Clauses 39 and 43 make similar changes regarding the addition to, or deletion from, the Domestic Substances List of living organisms subject to the *Food and Drugs Act*. (In the absence of this authority, such substances had to be listed separately on what is called the In Commerce List.)

Clauses 24 and 41 create "classes of persons" that do not need to be notified, upon being transferred a substance or living organism, of the requirement to provide information to the Minister of the Environment about new activities in relation to a substance or living organism not on the Domestic Substances List (amended sections 85 and 110).

Clause 49(1) makes it an offence under CEPA to fail to notify a person to whom a substance or living organism on the Domestic Substances List is transferred of their responsibility to provide information to the minister about significant new activities involving the substance or living organism (amended section 272(1)(b)).

2.2.6 Priority Substances List (Clauses 19 and 20)

Clause 19 amends sections 73 and 74 to require the ministers to develop and publish a plan specifying which substances should be given priority for assessing whether they are toxic or capable of becoming toxic. This plan may specify the risk

management activities that will be undertaken under CEPA or under other acts administered by the ministers. The plan shall specify initiatives "to promote the development and implementation of methods not involving the use of vertebrate animals that would provide information sufficient for assessing risks to health or the environment." This plan replaces the existing Priority Substances List under CEPA. Two Priority Substances Lists have been established, both prior to 1999.²³

While developing and implementing the proposed plan, the ministers:

- may consult the National Advisory Committee; government departments or agencies; Indigenous peoples; representatives of industry, labour and municipal authorities; and other interested persons;
- shall consider whether substances should be assessed by class rather than
 individually, "with a view toward avoiding substitutions within the class
 that may be harmful"; and
- shall consider the various possible impacts of substances.

The proposed plan for priority substances must be published within two years after the bill becomes law and specify the period after which the plan will be reviewed. Progress made in assessing priority substances must be included in the annual report on the administration and enforcement of CEPA tabled in both houses of Parliament.

Clause 20 requires the Minister of the Environment to compile, publish and amend as needed a list of substances that are suspected or have been determined to be capable of becoming toxic. Any person may request that the ministers assess a substance. The ministers have 90 days after receiving a request to inform the requester of how they will deal with the request and why (amended sections 76 and 76.1). Clause 20 specifies that the ministers shall apply a weight of evidence approach and the precautionary principle when interpreting the results of an assessment, and that they shall consider the cumulative effects on human health and the environment, as well as available information on any vulnerable population or environment in relation to the substance.

2.2.7 Animate Products of Biotechnology (Clauses 39.1 and 44.1)

Part 6 of CEPA addresses living organisms, where a living organism is defined as "a substance that is an animate product of biotechnology." Currently when an assessment of a living organism is required the ministers shall assess whether the living organism is toxic or capable of becoming toxic. Clause 39.1 expands the ministers' assessment to include whether or not there is a demonstrable need for this living organism (amended section 108(1)). Clause 39.1 also adds a

requirement for meaningful public participation in the ministers' assessment of a living organism. Clause 44.1 expands the Governor in Council's authority to make regulations that include regulations prescribing processes for meaningful public participation (amended section 114(1)).

2.2.8 Other Acts of Parliament (Clauses 21, 40, **55 and 56**)

If the assessment of a substance indicates that it should be added to either Part 1 or Part 2 of Schedule 1, clause 21 recognizes that instruments or regulations made under another Act of Parliament may provide sufficient protection of the environment and human health in terms of preventive or control actions in relation to the substance. If the ministers deem this to be the case, then the Minister of the Environment and the minister responsible for the Act in question must publish a statement in the *Canada Gazette* describing how the substance will be regulated (amended section 77(1)(b)). Clause 40 applies the same change to living organisms (amended section 109(4)).

Clause 55 allows that any person may submit to the Minister of the Environment comments regarding the statement that another Act of Parliament will be used to regulate a substance or a notice of objection requesting that a board of review be established. In addition to any other requirement under CEPA, notices regarding consultations or decisions must be made public (amended section 332). Clause 56 allows the Minister of the Environment or the Minister of Health to establish a board of review in response to a notice of objection to a statement (amended section 333). A board of review inquires into the nature and extent of the danger posed by the substance at issue and submits a report with its recommendations and the evidence that was presented to it to the minister or ministers who established the board.

2.3 DISCLOSURE AND CONFIDENTIALITY (CLAUSES 50 TO 53)

Clause 50 amends the process for requesting confidentiality when information is submitted to the Minister of the Environment under CEPA to indicate that a request for confidentiality must now include the reasons for the request (amended section 313).

Clause 52 adds federal boards or agencies to the list of groups with which the Government of Canada may enter into an agreement to disclose information which would otherwise be kept confidential. The board or agency must be involved in the administration or enforcement of a law and must keep the information confidential (amended section 316(1)(c)). The Government of Canada may currently enter into an agreement with other levels of government in Canada, foreign governments and international organizations. The minister may also enter into agreements with other ministers of the Crown.

Clause 53 adds new sections 317.1 and 317.2 to list circumstances under which the Minister of the Environment may disclose the explicit chemical or biological name of a substance or the explicit biological name of a living organism even if a request for confidentiality has been made. These include circumstances where:

- the minister has taken measures to permit or prohibit the manufacture or importation of the substance or living organism;
- the minister has recommended adding the substance or living organism to Part 1 or Part 2 of Schedule 1; or
- 10 years have passed since the request for confidentiality was made.

The explicit names may be published only after the Minister of the Environment has published notice of their intent to do so in the *Canada Gazette*. The requester may submit comments on whether the public interest in the disclosure outweighs any financial loss, impact on the requester's competitive position or damage to privacy or reputation caused by disclosing the information, or whether disclosure is prohibited under the *Access to Information Act*. If the minister decides to disclose the information, they must inform the requester at least 24 hours before doing so, although more rapid disclosure is authorized in an emergency.

2.4 NEW REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

2.4.1 Report To Parliament – Impact on Aboriginal Peoples (Clause 57)

Clause 57 adds a requirement for the Minister of the Environment to provide a report to both Houses of Parliament "regarding the operation of this Act in respect of the [A]boriginal peoples of Canada," starting five years after the coming force of this section, and every five years after that. The report must include the following (in relation to the Act):

- consultations with Aboriginal peoples and Aboriginal governments;
- measures implemented to respect section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982, the principle of the honour of the Crown, and Canada's treaty and fiduciary obligations to Aboriginal peoples;
- any evaluation on the effectiveness or implementation of the above measures; and
- any findings or recommendations related to the administration of CEPA and the Aboriginal peoples of Canada.

2.4.2 Report of the Minister of Industry on Compliance of Imported Goods (Clause 67.1)

Clause 67.1 adds a requirement for the Minister of Industry to table in both Houses of Parliament, no later than one year after the day on which this Act receives Royal Assent, a report on the following:

- measures to "ensure that manufactured goods that come to Canada meet the environmental requirements imposed on Canadian manufacturers"; and
- measures to "test imported products for compliance with Canadian standards to ensure that they are safe for Canadian consumers and that Canadian producers are not at a disadvantage."

The report must include, among other things, a proposed timeline and cost estimate for implementing any new recommended measures.

2.4.3 Amendments to the *Food and Drugs Act* (Clauses 64 to 69)

Clauses 64 through 67 amend the FDA to create an environmental risk assessment and risk management regime for drugs. The FDA currently sets out a risk assessment and risk management framework for health risks to ensure the safety, efficacy and quality of drugs. The environmental risks of drug ingredients are currently assessed under CEPA.

The amendments aim to consolidate these two separate streams to establish an assessment regime under the FDA in which environmental risk and health risk assessments may be completed concurrently. The federal government asserts that the amendments "would streamline the regulatory process for industry, while strengthening the environmental risk assessment and risk management of drugs." ²⁴

Clause 64 adds new section 11.1 to the FDA to prohibit the sale and other activities in respect of a drug unless the Minister of Health has assessed its environmental risks in accordance with the regulations made under section 30(1)(1.1).

New sections 21.301, 21.302 and 21.303 in clause 65 set out information, disclosure and labelling requirements for therapeutic products²⁵ the Minister of Health believes may pose a serious environmental risk as well as the minister's powers in relation to serious environmental risk. These environmental risk provisions correspond to similar measures related to health risks of therapeutic products.

The Minister of Health may require that a person provide information to determine whether a therapeutic product presents a serious environmental risk (new section 21.301(1)).

The Minister of Health may disclose confidential business information to other government departments or other governments for the purpose of managing an environmental risk or to protect the environment. This disclosure may take place without notice to or the consent of the person to whose affairs the information relates (new sections 21.301(2) and (3)).

The Minister of Health may order that the labelling or packaging of a therapeutic product be modified or replaced if the minister believes that doing so is necessary to prevent a serious environmental risk (new section 21.302).

If a serious environmental risk is identified, the Minister of Health may order that the therapeutic product be recalled or sent to a specified place (new section 21.303).

Clause 66 gives the Minister of Health the power to obtain additional information about a therapeutic product's effects on the environment by ordering and requiring the results of information, tests, studies or monitoring of the product. The exercise of this power is subject to regulations (new section 21.33). This corresponds to the current power of the Minister of Health under section 21.32 to order the same information, testing, studies or monitoring of a therapeutic product's effects on health or safety.

2.4.4 Regulation-Making Authority Under the Food and Drugs Act

The regulation-making authority of the Minister of Health is amended in clause 67. It gives the minister the power to make regulations declaring that any drug is adulterated if the minister believes that a prescribed substance in that drug presents a serious environmental risk (new section 30(1)(a.01)). Under section 8 of the FDA, adulterated drugs may not be sold. To manage environmental risks, the minister may make regulations respecting the labelling, packaging, offering, exposing or advertising of food, drugs, cosmetics and devices, their sale or conditions of sale, or the use of any substance as an ingredient in any food, drug, cosmetic or device (new section 30(1)(b.01)).

Clause 67(5) updates section 30(1)(1.1) to reflect the Minister of Health's regulatory authority to manage the risk to the environment or human life or health of the release into the environment of any food, drug, cosmetic or device. It also adds a provision to make regulations to manage environmental risks related to the sale, import, manufacture and other activities in respect of any food, drug, cosmetic or device (new section 30(1)(1.2)). The minister may now also waive any requirement respecting the assessment under the FDA of the environmental risk presented by a food, drug, cosmetic or device (new section 30(1)(1.3)).

Before the Minister of Health recommends regulation of a substance subject to assessment under section 30(1)(1.1), they must consider the degree of uncertainty respecting the environmental risks of using the substance as an ingredient in a drug, including its release into the environment (new section 30(1.01)).

Clause 69 specifies that the amendments made to sections 64, 67(2), 67(5) and 67(6) of the FDA will come into effect on a date specified by the Governor in Council.

2.5 REPEAL OF THE REGULATIONS ADDING PERFLUOROOCTANE SULFONATE AND ITS SALTS TO THE VIRTUAL ELIMINATION LIST AND THE PERFLUOROOCTANE SULFONATE VIRTUAL ELIMINATION ACT (CLAUSES 63 AND 68)

Clause 63(b) allows the Minister of the Environment and the Minister of Health to repeal the *Regulations Adding Perfluorooctane Sulfonate and Its Salts to the Virtual Elimination List* by regulation.

Clause 68 repeals the *Perfluorooctane Sulfonate Virtual Elimination Act*. ²⁶ Enacted in 2008, this Act mandated the addition of that substance to the Virtual Elimination List maintained under section 65(2) of CEPA. Perfluorooctane sulfonate and its salts, which were added to Schedule 1 of CEPA in 2006, were added to the Virtual Elimination List in 2009. ²⁷ Therefore, the *Perfluorooctane Sulfonate Virtual Elimination Act* is no longer necessary.

3 OBSERVATIONS OF THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON ENERGY, THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

In addition to proposing 32 amendments (noted above in bold type), the Standing Senate Committee on Energy, the Environment and Natural Resources included five observations in its 20 June 2022 report following its consideration of the bill. Three observations were directed to the Government of Canada or the Ministers of Health and the Environment, urging them to:

- ensure sufficient capacity is built within Health Canada, in collaboration with academic and Indigenous communities, to adequately address biomonitoring and toxicology assessment demands that would result from Bill S-5 coming into effect;
- ensure that Indigenous populations have equal access to biomonitoring and exposure assessments; and
- establish an advisory committee "on eliminating the use of vertebrate animals in toxicity testing and promoting the use and development of non-animal methods."

Another two observations expressed concerns of the committee, as follows:

- that "the right to a healthy environment cannot be protected unless it is made truly enforceable" and that the procedural barriers and technical requirements of Section 22 of CEPA may make this right unenforceable; and
- that industry is not required to conduct testing to fill data gaps on whether a substance they use or emit is toxic or is capable of being toxic.

NOTES

 Bill S-5: An Act to amend the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, to make related amendments to the Food and Drugs Act and to repeal the Perfluorooctane Sulfonate Virtual Elimination Act, 44th Parliament, 1st Session.

2. Senate Standing Committee on Energy, the Environment and Natural Resources, <u>Third Report:</u>
<u>Bill S-5, Strengthening Environmental Protection for a Healthier Canada Act, with amendment</u>
and observations, 44th Parliament, 1st Session, 20 June 2022.

3. Bill C-28: An Act to amend the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, to make related amendments to the Food and Drugs Act and to repeal the Perfluorooctane Sulfonate Virtual Elimination Act, 43rd Parliament, 2nd Session.

- 4. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, S.C. 1999, c. 33.
- 5. Food and Drugs Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. F-27.
- Robert Milko, Legislative Summary of Bill C-74: Canadian Environmental Protection Act (CEPA), Publication no. LS-9E, Library of Parliament, 31 May 1988.
- Kristen Douglas and Monique Hébert, <u>Legislative Summary of Bill C-32: The Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999</u>, Publication no. LS-285E, Library of Parliament, 5 July 1999.
- House of Commons, Standing Committee on Environment and Sustainable Development (ENVI), It's
 About Our Health! Towards Pollution Prevention: CEPA Revisited, Fifth report, 13 June 1995; ENVI,
 <u>The Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999 Five-Year Review: Closing The Gaps</u>, Fifth report,
 April 2007; and Senate, Standing Committee on Energy, the Environment and Natural Resources,
 <u>The Canadian Environmental Protection Act (1999, c. 33): Rx: Strengthen and Apply Diligently</u>,
 Sixth report, March 2008.
- 9. House of Commons, ENVI, *Healthy Environment, Healthy Canadians, Healthy Economy: Strengthening the* Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, Eighth report, June 2017.
- Environment and Climate Change Canada, <u>Follow-Up Report to the House of Commons Standing</u> <u>Committee on Environment and Sustainable Development on the Canadian Environmental Protection Act</u>, <u>1999</u>, 29 June 2018.
- Stephanie Taylor, The Canadian Press, "<u>Liberals propose enshrining the right to a healthy environment in legislation</u>," CBC News, 13 April 2021.
- 12. Government of Canada, Identification of chemicals and polymers as risk assessment priorities.
- 13. Government of Canada, *Domestic Substances List*.
- 14. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, S.C. 1999, c. 33, s. 73(1).
- Environment Canada, <u>A Guide to Understanding the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999</u>,
 December 2004, p. 7.
- House of Commons, ENVI, <u>Healthy Environment, Healthy Canadians, Healthy Economy: Strengthening</u> the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, Eighth report, June 2017, p. 46.
- 17. Government of Canada, <u>Identification of chemicals and polymers as risk assessment priorities</u>.

- 18. Virtual Elimination List. SOR/2006-298.
- House of Commons, ENVI, Healthy Environment, Healthy Canadians, Healthy Economy: Strengthening the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, Eighth report, June 2017, p. 78.
- 20. Government of Canada, "Products that may release a toxic substance," Bill S-5, Strengthening Environmental Protection for a Healthier Canada Act Summary of Amendments.
- 21. Government of Canada, "Prohibiting toxic substances that pose the highest risk," Bill S-5, Strengthening Environmental Protection for a Healthier Canada Act Summary of Amendments.
- 22. House of Commons, ENVI, <u>Healthy Environment, Healthy Canadians, Healthy Economy: Strengthening the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999</u>, Eighth report, June 2017, p. 79.
- 23. Government of Canada, Canadian Environmental Protection Act: priority substances list.
- 24. Environment and Climate Change Canada, <u>Government of Canada Delivers on Commitment to Strengthen the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999 and Recognizes a Right to a Healthy Environment.</u>
- 25. For a definition of the term "therapeutic product," see *Food and Drugs Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. F-27, s. 2.
- 26. Perfluorooctane Sulfonate Virtual Elimination Act, S.C. 2008, c. 13.
- 27. Regulations Adding Perfluorooctane Sulfonate and Its Salts to the Virtual Elimination List, SOR/2009-15.